
Minutes Planning and Zoning Board / Local Planning Agency 

3:00 PM

Call To Order

Approval of Minutes - January 11, 2021

Motion by Ben Glover, seconded by Joe Buchanan, to approve the minutes of January 11, 
2021.  The motion passed unanimously.

Result: APPROVED
Mover: Ben Glover
Seconder: Joe Buchanan

H. Public Hearings

H.1. Nichelle R. King (Teresa Davis) requests a change of zoning classification from AU to RRMH-1. 
(20Z00039) (Tax Account 2410958) (District 1)

Teresa Davis, 841 Bellhurst Lane, Rockledge, stated Ms. King would like to rezone to 
residential to place a doublewide mobile home on the property.

No public comment.

Motion by Ben Glover, seconded by Ron Bartcher, to approve the change of zoning 
classification from AU to RRMH-1. The motion passed unanimously.

Result: APPROVED
Mover: Ben Glover
Seconder: Ron Bartcher

H.2. Ronald Viesins requests a change of zoning classification from RR-1 to RU-1-13. (20Z00040) 
(Tax Account 2800337) (District 5) This item has been withdrawn by the applicant. Letter 
received 01/25/21. 

This item was withdrawn by the applicant on 1/22/21.

Result: WITHDRAWN

H.3. Preferred Leasing, LLC (Brian Stephens) requests a Small Scale Comprehensive Plan 
Amendment (21S.02) to change the Future Land Use designation from RES 4, NC, and CC to all 
CC. (20PZ00116) (Tax Accounts 2103387 & 2103397) (District 1)

Ron Bartcher advised the board of ex parte communication via email with applicant Brian 
Stephens.

Jason Bartlett, 2512 West Thorpe Drive, Malabar [Mr. Bartlett presented a PowerPoint to the 
board. The PowerPoint can be located in the Planning and Development Department under File 
Nos. 20PZ00116 and 20Z00041] He stated the front corner of the property is the Robinson 
Equipment Company, which is a tractor and lawnmower dealer that has switched to Florida 
Coast Equipment, which is a similar operation and dealership. Florida Coast Equipment will 
take over lots 524 and 533. It is the current AU zoning on lot 524 that is being requested to 
rezone to BU-1, to match the zoning on lot 533, under the same ownership. The CC 
(Community Commercial) Future Land Use is on the back one-quarter of the property, and 
portions of lots 524 and 533 are designated as RES 4 (Residential 4) and NC (Neighborhood 

Page 1 of 8



February 8, 2021

Commercial), so they would like to extend the front corner to the entire property and change 
the land use to all CC. The old building currently on the property will be torn down and a new 
facility will be built for Florida Coast Equipment. He stated the proposed concept plan shows 
that everything will be moved close to U.S. Highway 1, and there will be a large retention area 
in the back to provide additional buffering. He stated they are trying to match the Small Area 
Study that was performed in 2007, where it was requested that all commercial developments 
be south of Main Street and along the U.S. Highway 1 corridor. He noted the area is mostly 
rural, and Florida Coast Equipment is a rural-type of business that sells tractors and 
lawnmowers. He summarized in conclusion that the reason for the request is for continuation of 
the existing use, compatibility with future plans, citizen’s requests, as well as an investment and 
potential jobs.

Mark Wadsworth asked if Robinson Equipment currently using all of the property to store 
equipment. Mr. Bartlett replied yes, it will be used to display equipment. The equipment will also 
be displayed along U.S. Highway 1, and an entrance road is proposed off of Cuyler Street that 
will have equipment displayed along it.

Public comment.

Rita Pilot, 2308 Harry T. Moore Avenue, Mims, stated she is speaking on behalf of herself and 
as a trustee of the equestrian property directly behind the subject property. She said she is 
adamantly opposed to an additional entry point on Cuyler Street. Since the change from 
Robinson Equipment, there has been additional heavy equipment on the street, which is a dirt 
road farther down, and there is a problem with traffic. She said she is also concerned by the 
fact that it abuts the back of her property, and she would like a barrier there to delineate the 
residential property from the commercial property. In addition, she is concerned about the 
additional traffic and would like some consideration as to whether there needs to be traffic 
control put into place, because with all the heavy equipment coming out and the additional 
business, she does not believe that there is a provision to control the traffic. She noted it is very 
difficult to turn left from Cuyler Street onto U.S. Highway 1. 

Mark Wadsworth asked Ms. Pilot if her property is east of Harry T. Moore Avenue and north of 
Cuyler Street. Ms. Pilot replied she is north of Cuyler Street, on both east and west sides; she 
is a trustee to the property on the east, and the owner of the property on the west.

Ben Glover asked staff if there a landscape buffer that would have to be implemented.

George Ritchie replied when they come in for the site plan improvements there will be a 
requirement as part of the site plan and landscaping codes that will have buffers and wall 
requirements, but it is not part of the zoning code. 

Mr. Glover asked if that is that something the board has done before in a BDP (Binding 
Development Plan), to require some kind of buffer. Mr. Ritchie replied if that is what the board 
would like to, it can ask the applicant if they are willing to put those conditions in a BDP.

Harry Carswell asked if RU-2-6 (Low Density, Multi-Family) is multi-family. Mr. Ritchie replied 
yes, RU-2-6 is a low-density multi-family zoning classification that allows single-family homes or 
multi-family developments up to the density allowed by the Comprehensive Plan and zoning. 
Mr. Carswell asked if up to six units would be allowed on Ms. Pilot’s property. Mr. Ritchie 
replied yes, if the associated land use of the property next door was also Residential 6, then 
they can have six units; if the land use was a lower density, then the zoning would be capped.

Page 2 of 8



February 8, 2021

Ms. Pilot stated she is opposed to any additional entrance from Cuyler Street, and she would 
prefer a wall or other barrier between the residential property.

Jeffrey Ball stated a lot of Ms. Pilot’s concerns will be addressed during the site plan process. 
Between residential and commercial land uses, there is not a provision in the code that requires 
a six-foot wall. There are provisions in the code that allow for a waiver process, but that would 
have to go before the Board of County Commissioners. He stated as far as buffering, that is all 
required per the land development code, as well as access points that will be determined based 
on a traffic study that would be provided with the site plan.

Mr. Glover asked if there is confirmation for Ms. Pilot that there would be a wall put in place. Mr. 
Ball replied the code requires a wall between commercial and residential land uses.

Ms. Pilot stated she heard it said there will be a buffer between the properties and there will be 
a study done; however, it is a problem now. She said she would like to understand what the 
study will entail, because an additional entry on Cuyler Street would be highly problematic.

Jeffrey Ball stated the engineers in Public Works will look at the trip generation based on the 
proposed use to see if an additional access would be warranted, and they will also look at what 
the access requirements are to see if there is enough frontage to allow for an additional 
entrance point, and they will look to see if it has to be a right-turn only, and they will look at turn 
lanes and decel lanes, and it will all be based on a traffic study provided by the applicant.

Mr. Wadsworth stated he wanted Ms. Pilot to understand the steps the applicant still needs to 
go through if the requests are approved. Ms. Pilot stated she understands and she is still in 
opposition.

Mr. Bartlett clarified that the proposed site plan has a single entrance on Cuyler Street, which is 
where the entrance is now that Florida Coast Equipment is using; there is not an additional 
entrance proposed.
 
Mr. Wadsworth asked, with the new building, does the developer still plan on coming in off of 
Cuyler Street. Mr. Bartlett replied yes. Mr. Wadsworth asked if they would have to access from 
U.S. Highway 1 depending on the traffic study. Mr. Bartlett replied correct, it will depend on the 
traffic study, but currently there is no access from U.S. Highway 1; the access is from Cuyler 
Street. 

George Ritchie noted that the proposed site plan has not been reviewed by staff. If the zoning 
action is approved and the applicant submits a site plan, then County staff will look at it and 
may make comments about the road material itself and whether it should stay a dirt road or be 
improved. 

Ron Bartcher asked if the new owners will be selling the same brand of tractors. Mr. Bartlett 
replied yes.

Mr. Bartcher stated during Small Area Study the residents who participated recognized the 
commercial use of U.S. Highway 1, so he doesn’t see that it presents any problem. They are 
essentially using the same business, just with a new building, and it will probably have a few 
more tractors on the property. He said he drives by it every day and there is equipment spread 
out all over the property, not just on the corner. The concern he sees with the traffic is 
dependent on the amount of increased business over the next few years.

Page 3 of 8



February 8, 2021

Mr. Bartlett stated Florida Coast Equipment has been operating at the location for a couple of 
years, so any increase in traffic and sales has already been realized. He said they will add two 
or three service bays in order to service equipment faster. He noted Florida Coast Equipment is 
looking for property in the Melbourne area which will alleviate some of the traffic at the Mims 
location.

Mr. Bartcher asked if there will be a lot of semi-trucks coming to the property. Mr. Bartlett 
replied there will be periodic deliveries for the equipment, but he can’t speak to the exact 
quantity.

Ben Glover asked Mr. Bartcher if there are usually a lot of cars parked in front of the business. 
Mr. Bartcher replied there are usually a few; it is a good business and there are customers, but 
it doesn’t have heavy traffic. He further stated the intersection of Cuyler and U.S. Highway 1 
would be the most concern because it is a two-lane road, and U.S.1 is four lanes. There really 
isn’t much of a turn lane, and people coming off of Cuyler have a hard time making a left turn.

Mr. Bartlett stated with there being a few hundred feet of the extended driveway, there will not 
be any vehicle stacking.

Motion by Ron Bartcher, seconded by Brian Hodgers, to approve the Small Scale 
Comprehensive Plan Amendment from RES 4, NC, and CC, to all CC. The motion passed 
unanimously.

Motion by Ron Bartcher, seconded by Brian Hodgers, to approve the change of zoning 
classification from BU-1 and AU to all BU-1. The motion passed unanimously.

Result: APPROVED
Mover: Ron Bartcher
Seconder: Brian Hodgers

H.4. Preferred Leasing, LLC (Brian Stephens) requests a change of zoning classification from BU-1 
and AU to all BU-1. (20Z00041) (Tax Accounts 2103387 & 2103397) (District 1)

Ron Bartcher advised the board of ex parte communication via email with applicant Brian 
Stephens.

Jason Bartlett, 2512 West Thorpe Drive, Malabar [Mr. Bartlett presented a PowerPoint to the 
board. The PowerPoint can be located in the Planning and Development Department under File 
Nos. 20PZ00116 and 20Z00041] He stated the front corner of the property is the Robinson 
Equipment Company, which is a tractor and lawnmower dealer that has switched to Florida 
Coast Equipment, which is a similar operation and dealership. Florida Coast Equipment will 
take over lots 524 and 533. It is the current AU zoning on lot 524 that is being requested to 
rezone to BU-1, to match the zoning on lot 533, under the same ownership. The CC 
(Community Commercial) Future Land Use is on the back one-quarter of the property, and 
portions of lots 524 and 533 are designated as RES 4 (Residential 4) and NC (Neighborhood 
Commercial), so they would like to extend the front corner to the entire property and change 
the land use to all CC. The old building currently on the property will be torn down and a new 
facility will be built for Florida Coast Equipment. He stated the proposed concept plan shows 
that everything will be moved close to U.S. Highway 1, and there will be a large retention area 
in the back to provide additional buffering. He stated they are trying to match the Small Area 
Study that was performed in 2007, where it was requested that all commercial developments 
be south of Main Street and along the U.S. Highway 1 corridor. He noted the area is mostly 
rural, and Florida Coast Equipment is a rural-type of business that sells tractors and 

Page 4 of 8



February 8, 2021

lawnmowers. He summarized in conclusion that the reason for the request is for continuation of 
the existing use, compatibility with future plans, citizen’s requests, as well as an investment and 
potential jobs.

Mark Wadsworth asked if Robinson Equipment currently using all of the property to store 
equipment. Mr. Bartlett replied yes, it will be used to display equipment. The equipment will also 
be displayed along U.S. Highway 1, and an entrance road is proposed off of Cuyler Street that 
will have equipment displayed along it.

Public comment.

Rita Pilot, 2308 Harry T. Moore Avenue, Mims, stated she is speaking on behalf of herself and 
as a trustee of the equestrian property directly behind the subject property. She said she is 
adamantly opposed to an additional entry point on Cuyler Street. Since the change from 
Robinson Equipment, there has been additional heavy equipment on the street, which is a dirt 
road farther down, and there is a problem with traffic. She said she is also concerned by the 
fact that it abuts the back of her property, and she would like a barrier there to delineate the 
residential property from the commercial property. In addition, she is concerned about the 
additional traffic and would like some consideration as to whether there needs to be traffic 
control put into place, because with all the heavy equipment coming out and the additional 
business, she does not believe that there is a provision to control the traffic. She noted it is very 
difficult to turn left from Cuyler Street onto U.S. Highway 1. 

Mark Wadsworth asked Ms. Pilot if her property is east of Harry T. Moore Avenue and north of 
Cuyler Street. Ms. Pilot replied she is north of Cuyler Street, on both east and west sides; she 
is a trustee to the property on the east, and the owner of the property on the west.

Ben Glover asked staff if there a landscape buffer that would have to be implemented.

George Ritchie replied when they come in for the site plan improvements there will be a 
requirement as part of the site plan and landscaping codes that will have buffers and wall 
requirements, but it is not part of the zoning code. 

Mr. Glover asked if that is that something the board has done before in a BDP (Binding 
Development Plan), to require some kind of buffer. Mr. Ritchie replied if that is what the board 
would like to, it can ask the applicant if they are willing to put those conditions in a BDP.

Harry Carswell asked if RU-2-6 (Low Density, Multi-Family) is multi-family. Mr. Ritchie replied 
yes, RU-2-6 is a low-density multi-family zoning classification that allows single-family homes or 
multi-family developments up to the density allowed by the Comprehensive Plan and zoning. 
Mr. Carswell asked if up to six units would be allowed on Ms. Pilot’s property. Mr. Ritchie 
replied yes, if the associated land use of the property next door was also Residential 6, then 
they can have six units; if the land use was a lower density, then the zoning would be capped.

Ms. Pilot stated she is opposed to any additional entrance from Cuyler Street, and she would 
prefer a wall or other barrier between the residential property.

Jeffrey Ball stated a lot of Ms. Pilot’s concerns will be addressed during the site plan process. 
Between residential and commercial land uses, there is not a provision in the code that requires 
a six-foot wall. There are provisions in the code that allow for a waiver process, but that would 
have to go before the Board of County Commissioners. He stated as far as buffering, that is all 
required per the land development code, as well as access points that will be determined based 

Page 5 of 8



February 8, 2021

on a traffic study that would be provided with the site plan.

Mr. Glover asked if there is confirmation for Ms. Pilot that there would be a wall put in place. Mr. 
Ball replied the code requires a wall between commercial and residential land uses.

Ms. Pilot stated she heard it said there will be a buffer between the properties and there will be 
a study done; however, it is a problem now. She said she would like to understand what the 
study will entail, because an additional entry on Cuyler Street would be highly problematic.

Jeffrey Ball stated the engineers in Public Works will look at the trip generation based on the 
proposed use to see if an additional access would be warranted, and they will also look at what 
the access requirements are to see if there is enough frontage to allow for an additional 
entrance point, and they will look to see if it has to be a right-turn only, and they will look at turn 
lanes and decel lanes, and it will all be based on a traffic study provided by the applicant.

Mr. Wadsworth stated he wanted Ms. Pilot to understand the steps the applicant still needs to 
go through if the requests are approved. Ms. Pilot stated she understands and she is still in 
opposition.

Mr. Bartlett clarified that the proposed site plan has a single entrance on Cuyler Street, which is 
where the entrance is now that Florida Coast Equipment is using; there is not an additional 
entrance proposed.
 
Mr. Wadsworth asked, with the new building, does the developer still plan on coming in off of 
Cuyler Street. Mr. Bartlett replied yes. Mr. Wadsworth asked if they would have to access from 
U.S. Highway 1 depending on the traffic study. Mr. Bartlett replied correct, it will depend on the 
traffic study, but currently there is no access from U.S. Highway 1; the access is from Cuyler 
Street. 

George Ritchie noted that the proposed site plan has not been reviewed by staff. If the zoning 
action is approved and the applicant submits a site plan, then County staff will look at it and 
may make comments about the road material itself and whether it should stay a dirt road or be 
improved. 

Ron Bartcher asked if the new owners will be selling the same brand of tractors. Mr. Bartlett 
replied yes.

Mr. Bartcher stated during Small Area Study the residents who participated recognized the 
commercial use of U.S. Highway 1, so he doesn’t see that it presents any problem. They are 
essentially using the same business, just with a new building, and it will probably have a few 
more tractors on the property. He said he drives by it every day and there is equipment spread 
out all over the property, not just on the corner. The concern he sees with the traffic is 
dependent on the amount of increased business over the next few years.

Mr. Bartlett stated Florida Coast Equipment has been operating at the location for a couple of 
years, so any increase in traffic and sales has already been realized. He said they will add two 
or three service bays in order to service equipment faster. He noted Florida Coast Equipment is 
looking for property in the Melbourne area which will alleviate some of the traffic at the Mims 
location.

Mr. Bartcher asked if there will be a lot of semi-trucks coming to the property. Mr. Bartlett 
replied there will be periodic deliveries for the equipment, but he can’t speak to the exact 

Page 6 of 8



February 8, 2021

quantity.

Ben Glover asked Mr. Bartcher if there are usually a lot of cars parked in front of the business. 
Mr. Bartcher replied there are usually a few; it is a good business and there are customers, but 
it doesn’t have heavy traffic. He further stated the intersection of Cuyler and U.S. Highway 1 
would be the most concern because it is a two-lane road, and U.S.1 is four lanes. There really 
isn’t much of a turn lane, and people coming off of Cuyler have a hard time making a left turn.

Mr. Bartlett stated with there being a few hundred feet of the extended driveway, there will not 
be any vehicle stacking.

Motion by Ron Bartcher, seconded by Brian Hodgers, to approve the Small Scale 
Comprehensive Plan Amendment from RES 4, NC, and CC, to all CC. The motion passed 
unanimously.

Motion by Ron Bartcher, seconded by Brian Hodgers, to approve the change of zoning 
classification from BU-1 and AU to all BU-1. The motion passed unanimously.

Result: APPROVED
Mover: Ron Bartcher
Seconder: Brian Hodgers

H.5. Pioneer Pointe (Jake Wise) requests an amendment to an existing BDP in a BU-1 zoning 
classification. (20Z00042) (Tax Account 3022346) (District 2)

Jake Wise, 2651 West Eau Gallie Blvd., Melbourne, stated he is the Civil Engineer for the 
project. He said his clients are asking for a revision to a BDP that was approved many years 
ago and at the time they worked with the neighbors to restrict certain uses because they didn’t 
know what kind of business would go on the property. Since then, the automobile washing 
industry has evolved tremendously and the architecture on them is very attractive. He said they 
are before the board today to ask to add the automobile washing back as one of the allowable 
uses. The site is currently under development for a Starbucks at the intersection of Pioneer 
Road and Courtenay Parkway. There is also an application in progress for the back portion of 
the commercial, behind the Starbucks, for an assisted living facility, and that project is pretty far 
along in the permitting stages. The proposed car wash would be one of the commercial 
outparcels, if recommended by this board and approved by the County Commission. 

No public comment.

Ron Bartcher stated Mr. Wise is requesting a waiver to remove a six-foot masonry wall, and 
asked what is planned to go in its place. 

Mr. Wise replied the property itself is about 20 acres, with the front 10 acres commercial and 
the back 10 acres residential, and there is also a very large wetland area in the middle between 
the two ten-acre pieces, and his client owns the entire property. There are no plans for the 
residential portion, so on the east border between the two zonings they are requesting to put in 
a fence instead of a wall, and that will help with the preservation of the wetlands and the 
preservation of the existing vegetation which will be the backdrop to the assisted living facility. 
He noted he has met with Commissioner Lober and they have the support of staff for the 
request.

Mr. Bartcher asked where exactly on the property will the car wash be located. Mr. Wise replied 
it will be at the most southwestern portion of the parcel, south of Starbucks.

Page 7 of 8



February 8, 2021

Motion by Ben Glover, seconded by Joe Buchanan, to approve the amendment to an existing 
BDP in a BU-1 zoning classification. The motion passed unanimously.

Result: APPROVED
Mover: Ben Glover
Seconder: Joe Buchanan

Public Comment

Adjournment

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, 
persons needing special accommodations or an interpreter to participate in the proceedings, 
please notify the Planning and Development Department no later than 48 hours prior to the 
meeting at (321) 633-2069.

Assisted listening system receivers are available for the hearing impaired and can be obtained 
from SCGTV staff at the meeting.  We respectfully request that ALL ELECTRONIC ITEMS 
and CELL PHONE REMAIN OFF while the Planning and Zoning Board is in session.  Thank 
You. 

This meeting will be broadcast live on Space Coast Government Television (SCGTV) on 
Spectrum Cable Channel 499, Comcast (North Brevard) Cable Channel 51, and Comcast 
(South Brevard) Cable Channel 13 and AT&T U-verse Channel 99. SCGTV will also replay 
this meeting during the coming month on its 24-hour video server nights, weekends, and 
holidays.  Check the SCGTV website for daily program updates at http://www.brevardfl.gov. 
The Agenda may be viewed at:  http://www.brevardfl.gov/Board Meetings

Page 8 of 8


